IN THE FLORIDA SUPREME COURT

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

v. Case No. 73,531

JEFFREY C. HIEBER,

Respondent.

DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF THE DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL SECOND DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

KATHERINE V. BLANCO
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar 1327832
1313 Tampa Street, Suite 804
Park Trammell Building
Tampa, Florida 33602
(813) 272-2670

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This is an appeal by the State in a criminal case. The State of Florida appealed the trial court's downward departure from the sentencing guidelines. The Second District Court determined that the State's Notice of Appeal was untimely and, therefore, dismissed the appeal. State v. Hieber, 14 F.L.W. 156 (Fla. 2d DCA, Opinion filed December 21, 1988).

On February 16, 1987, the defendant, Jeffrey Hieber, appeared before the trial court for sentencing in Hillsborough Circuit County Court. The defendant had previously entered an enter an "open plea" to the charges of two counts of Armed Burglary, two counts of Grand Theft, Attempted First Degree Murder and Criminal Mischief. The stipulated scoresheet reflected a presumptive sentence of seventeen (17) to twenty-two (22) years incarceration. (R. 138, 143-144). At the sentencing hearing held on February 16, 1987, the trial court announced that it was departing downward from the sentencing guidelines and announced its rationale for the downward departure. The trial court then informed the parties that he would file a sentencing memorandum setting forth its reasons for departure. The judgment and sentence documents were signed by the 153). trial judge on February 16, 1987. (R. 57-58, 114-118). judgments were recorded on March 11, 1987 and March 13, 1987. (R. 57; 114). In addition, the order placing the defendant on probation were filed with the circuit court on March 23, 1987. (R. 59, 119).

On April 29, 1987, the defense counsel submitted a memorandum of law in support of the trial court's downward departure from the guidelines. (R. 127, 128). On May 12, 1987, the trial court entered its written order setting forth its reasons for departure from the guidelines. On May 19, 1987, the State filed a notice of appeal of the downward departure. (R. 129, 130).

Rule 9.140(c)(1)(J), Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure provides that the State may appeal a sentence imposed outside the range recommended by guidelines.

On December 21, 1988, the Second District Court held:

Because it is the sentencing itself which triggers the time for filing an appeal, and not the subsequent entry of the departure order, the state's notice is untimely and this court lacks jurisdiction to entertain their appeal. State v. Ealy, \$87-3017 (Fla. 2d DCA September 2, 1988) [13 F.L.W. 2061]. As in Ealy, we acknowledge that this result conflicts with State v. Williams, 463 So.2d 525 (Fla. 3d DCA 1985).

Appeal dismissed."

State v. Hieber, 14 F.L.W. 156 (Fla. 2d DCA, Opinion filed December 21, 1988)

On May 12, 1989, this Court accepted jurisdiction,

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

In accordance with the opinion of the Third District Court of Appeal in State v. Williams, 463 So.2d 525 (Fla. 3d DCA 1985), the State's appeal of a guidelines departure sentence is timely when taken within fifteen (15) days of the written order setting forth the reasons for departure, even though the notice of appeal was more than 15 days after rendition of the judgment and sentence.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE

IN ACCORDANCE WTIH THE OPINION OF THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL IN STATE V. WILLIAMS, 463 So.2d 525 (Fla. 3d DCA 1985), THE STATE'S APPEAL OF A GUIDELINES DEPARTURE SENTENCE IS TIMELY WHEN TAKEN WITHIN FIFTEEN (15) DAYS OF THE WRITTEN ORDER SETTING FORTH THE REASONS FOR DEPARTURE, EVEN THOUGH THE NOTICE OF APPEAL WAS MORE THAN 15 DAYS AFTER RENDITION OF THE JUDGMENT AND SENTENCE.

The judgment and sentence documents were signed on February 16, 1987, they were recorded on March 11 and 13, 1987, the trial court's written order of departure was filed on May 12, 1987, and the State's notice of appeal was filed on May 19, 1987. In the instant case, the Second District Court ruled that the State's notice of appeal was untimely "[B]ecause, it is the sentencing itself which triggers the time for filing an appeal, and not the subsequent entry of the departure order. • • State v. Hieber, 14 F.L.W. 156 (Fla. 2d DCA, Opinion filed December 21, 1988) [reserved citation 541 So.2d 1208).

The State urges this Honorable Court to adopt the reasoning set forth by the Third District Court of Appeal in State v. Williams, 463 So.2d 525 (Fla. 3d DCA 1985). In Williams, the Court determined that the State's appeal, which was taken within fifteen days of the rendition of the order setting forth the written reasons for departure, was timely and the State's appeal

was not subject to dismissal. In doing so, the Third District

"Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure "[a]ny sentence 3.701 (d)11 requires that outside of the guidelines must be accompanied by a written statement delineating the reasons for the departure." Where a sentence is imposed below the range recommended by the guidelines, the State is given the right to appeal. See Fla.R.App.P. 9.140 (c) (l) (J) . But unlike an appeal from an illegal sentence under Rule 9.140 (c)(1)I), where the illegality is manifest with the mere pronouncement of sentence, the propriety vel non of a sentence imposed outside of the recommended guideline range cannot be said to be known until the written reasons for the departure form the The essence of an quidelines are given. appeal under Rule 9.140(c)(1)(J) is not that the trial court departed from the guidelines, but rather that the reasons given by the trial court for departing from the guidelines do not

justify the departure. Thus, an appeal which precedes the filing of the written statement delineating the reasons for departure is premature.'

463 So.2d 525-526.

The State may appeal a sentence imposed outside the range recommended by the guidelines. \$924.07, Florida Statutes; Rule 9.140(c)(1)(J) Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure. The State must file its notice of appeal with the clerk of the lower tribunal within fifteen (15) days of rendition of the order to be reviewed. Rule 9.020(g) defines rendition of an order as the filing of a signed, written order with the clerk. The Committee Notes to Rule 9.020 discuss the broad definition given to the term 'order' and state that this rule was intended to encourage the entry of written orders in every case.

In this case, the state relied in good faith on the trial court's announced intention to submit written reasons supporting the departure; and the State awaited the rendition of the trial court's order setting forth its reasons before filing the notice of appeal. In an appeal involving a downward departure sentence without written reasons, the appellate court is unduly burdened with two separate appeals: one in which the case is remanded for the belated entry of written reasons for the departure and a second appeal devoted to the validity of the reasons. The procedure followed by the State in this case obviated the need

for two separate appeals; it reduced the ultimate cost time involved, appellate caseload, and avoided wasting scarce judicial resources. Here, as in <u>Williams</u>, supra, the State's notice of appeal, which was addressed to the trial court's order of departure, was timely filed.

CONSLUSION

Based on the foregoing reasons, arguments and authorites, Petitioner respectfully requests this Court to approve the decision of the Third District Court in <u>Williams</u>, reverse the decision of the Second District Court in the instant case, and remand this appeal to the District Court for consideration of the merits of the instant appeal.

Respectfully submitted

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

RATHERINE V. BLANCO, \$327832 Assistant Attorney General 1313 Tampa Street, Suite 804 Park Trammell Building Tampa, Florida 33602 (813) 272-2670

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER