10 Regues

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

vs .

Case No. 74,315

CHARLES E. MCCRAY,

Respondent.

DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA SECOND DISTRICT

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

JAMES MARION MOORMAN PUBLIC DEFENDER TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT FLORIDA BAR NO. 0143265

PAUL C. HELM ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER

Public Defender's Office Polk County Courthouse P. O. Box 9000--Drawer PD Bartow, FL 33830 (813) 534-4200

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

TOPICAL

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Respondent Charles E. McCray was the defendant in the trial court and the appellee in the District Court of Appeal, Second District. Petitioner, the State of Florida, was the plaintiff in the trial court and the appellant in the District Court. Petitioner is seeking review of the District Court's opinion dismissing Petitioner's appeal. The opinion is set forth in the appendix to this brief. References to the appendix are designated by "A" and the page number. References to the record on appeal are designated by "R" and the page number.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On November 30, 1987, Respondent pleaded guilty to several charges and the trial court entered judgments of guilt and placed him on two years' community control to be followed by five years' probation. (R52-62) This punishment represented a downward departure from the recommended guidelines' sentencing range of 5 1/2 to 7 years' incarceration. (R54) On December 14, 1987, the trial court filed its written reasons for the departure. (R73) On December 21, 1987, two orders entitled "judgment of guilt placing defendant on probation" and "judgment of guilt placing defendant in community control" were filed in the circuit court clerk's office. These orders, dated November 30, 1987, stated the conditions of probation and community control. (R74-77) The State filed its notice of appeal on December 21, 1987, which identified the December 14, 1987, order of written reasons for the guidelines departure as the subject of the appeal. (R78)

Respondent moved to dismiss the State's appeal on the ground that the notice of appeal was untimely filed. The Second District agreed and dismissed the appeal. (Al-2)

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The State had the statutory right to appeal the departure sentences imposed by the trial court, but was required to file its notice of appeal within fifteen days after the judgments and sentences were rendered. Petitioner's argument that the written reasons for departure constitute the order to be appealed must be rejected. Otherwise, neither the State nor the defendant could appeal an illegal departure sentence if the court failed to enter reasons for departure. Since the notice of appeal in this case was filed more than fifteen days after the judgments and sentences were rendered, the District Court of Appeal, Second District lacked jurisdiction and correctly dismissed the appeal.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, SECOND DISTRICT DID NOT ERR IN FINDING THE STATE'S NOTICE OF APPEAL UNTIMELY.

The right to appeal from a final judgment is prescribed by statute. State v. Pettis, 520 So.2d 250, 252 (Fla. 1988). The State of Florida's right to appeal a guidelines departure sentence is provided by section 927.07(1)(i), Florida Statutes (1987):

(1) The state may appeal from:

* * *

(i) A sentence imposed outside the range recommended by the guidelines authorized by s. 921.001.

The time limit for filing an appeal is prescribed by rules adopted by this Court. Art. V, § 2(a), Fla. Const. The State of Florida is required to file its notice of appeal within fifteen days of rendition of the order to be reviewed. Fla. R. App. P. 9.140(2). The time limit for filing a notice of appeal is jurisdictional, and an untimely appeal must be dismissed. Lampkin-Asam v. District Court of Appeal, 364 So.2d 469 (Fla. 1978).

In this case, the guidelines departure sentences were imposed, and the final judgments were rendered on November 30, 1987. (R52-62) The State filed its notice of appeal twenty-one days later on December 21, 1987. (R78) The trial court entered a written order stating its reasons for departure on December 14, 1987. (R73)

The District Court of Appeal, Second District dismissed the State's appeal as untimely because the notice of appeal was filed more than fifteen days after the judgments and sentences were rendered. (A1-2) Relying upon the Third District's conflicting decision in State v. Williams, 463 So.2d 525 (Fla. 3d DCA 1985), Petitioner argues that the time for filing a notice of appeal from a guidelines departure sentence should run from the date the written order stating reasons for departure is filed rather than from the date the sentence is rendered.

Both the decision in <u>Williams</u> and the Petitioner are wrong. Section 927.07(1)(i), Florida Statutes (1987), grants the State the right to appeal the departure sentence, not the order stating reasons for departure. <u>State v. Hieber</u>, 541 So.2d 1208 (Fla. 2d DCA 1988); <u>State v. Ealy</u>, 533 So.2d 1173, 1174 (Fla. 2d DCA 1988). Similarly, the defendant has the right to appeal a departure sentence under section 924.06(1)(e), Florida Statutes (1987).

The legislature chose wisely in making the departure sentence the order to be appealed rather than the reasons for departure. If no appeal could be filed until the trial court entered written reasons for departure, neither the State nor the defendant would be able to appeal an illegal departure sentence unsupported by reasons for departure. Trial courts could avoid complying with the guidelines in any case by refusing to enter written reasons for departure above or below the guidelines.

Moreover, Petitioner is wrong in arguing that it is

necessary to review the written reasons for departure before deciding whether to appeal a departure sentence. The State should have known that it was aggrieved by the departure sentences without regard to the trial court's written reasons. Surely the State would have wanted its appeal even if the trial court had never entered written reasons for departure.

Since the State filed an untimely appeal more than fifteen days after the judgments and sentences were rendered, the Second District correctly determined that it lacked jurisdiction and dismissed the appeal. See Lampkin-Asam v. District Court of Appeal. The order dismissing the appeal should be affirmed.

CONCLUSION

Respondent respectfully requests this Honorable Court to affirm the decision of the District Court of Appeal, Second District dismissing Petitioner's untimely appeal.